ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

No. 49087

KIRSTIN BLAISE LOBATO

Appellant,

FILED

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

DEC 2 6 2007

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT

BY

DEPUTY CLERK

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Valorie Vega, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

David M. Schieck Special Public Defender JoNell Thomas Deputy Special Public Defender State Bar No. 4771 Office of the Special Public Defender 330 South Third Street Suite 800 Las Vegas, NV 89155 (702) 455-6265 Attorney for Appellant



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

No. 49087

KIRSTIN BLAISE LOBATO

Appellant,

VS.

I. INTRODUCTION

Appellant Kirstin Lobato was convicted of voluntary manslaughter with use of a deadly weapon and sexual penetration of a dead human body, despite the fact that there was absolutely no physical evidence implicating her in those offenses, the fact that no eyewitness or informant testimony suggested that she was guilty, and the fact that there were substantial differences between an incident described by Lobato to police officers and the facts surrounding the death at issue here. Moreover, substantial alibi evidence existed which established that Lobato was not the perpetrator of the crime at issue. Her conviction must be vacated because the State failed to present sufficient evidence to support her conviction. In the alternative, she is entitled to a new trial because of the substantial errors and constitutional violations committed by the district court. Finally, the sentence imposed by the district court violated Lobato's double jeopardy rights and must be modified.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction, pursuant to a jury verdict, of one count of voluntary manslaughter with use of a deadly weapon and one count of penetration of a dead human body.

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. The State failed to present any physical evidence suggesting that Lobato killed Bailey. It also failed to present any eyewitness identification of her or her car, failed to establish that her numerous alibi witnesses were not credible, and failed to establish that Bailey was the person that Lobato admitted slashing. Given the incredible inconsistencies between details provided by Lobato about the man who attacked her and the details concerning Bailey's death and the complete lack of other evidence, is there insufficient evidence to support Lobato's conviction?
- B. Detective Thowsen was allowed to testify that there were no incidents of any other penis stabbings based upon telephone calls allegedly made by his secretary to unnamed persons at unnamed medical facilities. WereLobato's constitutional right of Confrontation and her statutory right against use of hearsay testimony violated as a result?
- C. Detective Thowsen was allowed to give his opinion as to why Lobato's statements to the police were inconsistent with the physical evidence and was permitted to testify that Lobato was minimizing her involvement based upon her methamphetamine use. Was this testimony improper and did it usurp the jury's role?

- D. The district court refused to allow Lobato's witnesses to testify that Lobato confided in them regarding her cutting of a man's penis prior to the date of Bailey's death. In doing so, did the district court prohibited Lobato from presenting her defense and violate her constitutional rights?
- E. The district court allowed the State to introduce highly prejudicial evidence that Lobato's car had the license plate, "4NIK8ER." Did the court violate Lobato's rights admitting this inflammatory evidence?
- F. The district court allowed the State to introduce evidence of positive luminol tests on Lobato's car, even though there was no confirmatory tests that established the presence of blood. Did the district court abused its discretion in admitting this evidence?
- G. The State threw away important evidence and failed to make reports about crucial matters. Did the district court abused its discretion in denying Lobato's motion to dismiss charges based on the State's bad faith and gross negligence in failing to preserve and collect potentially exculpatory evidence?
- H. Should this Court reconsider its holdings as to issues raised in Lobato's first appeal?
- I. Did the sentence imposed by the district court violates Lobato's double jeopardy rights under the state constitution.

IV. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On August 9, 2001, the State charged Appellant Kirstin Blaise Lobato with one count of murder with use of a deadly weapon and one count of sexual penetration of a dead human body. 1 App. 1. The State alleged that Lobato killed Duran Bailey with a blunt object and/or by stabbing and/or by cutting him with a knife and that she then inserted a knife into and/or cut Bailey's anal opening. 1 App. 1-2. She entered a plea of not guilty and received a jury trial on the charges. The first jury returned a guilty verdict on both charges. 1 App. 5. She was sentenced to consecutive 20 to 50 year sentences for first-degree murder with use of a deadly weapon and a concurrent 5 to 15 year sentence for sexual penetration of a dead body. 1 App. 11. On appeal, this Court reversed the judgment after finding that the trial court erred in precluding Lobato from introducing extrinsic evidence to impeach the testimony a witness for the State. 1 App. 6; Lobato v. State, 120 Nev. 512, 96 P.3d 765 (2004).

Following the remand from this Court, several motions were filed which are relevant to this appeal. Lobato filed a motion in limine to exclude the contents of her license plate. 1 App. 21-33. The State opposed the motion. 2 App. 374-78. Lobato replied to the State's opposition. 2 App. 480-83. Following argument from counsel, the district court ruled that

3 4 5

7 8

6

10 11

9

12 13 14

15

16

17 18

19 20

21 22

23

24 25

26 27

28

the probative value of the license plate outweighed the prejudicial impact of the evidence and that the State could therefore introduce the evidence. 4 App. 918-23.

Lobato filed a motion in limine to exclude statements she made during the course of the July 20, 2001, interrogation. 1 App. 91-123. The State opposed the motion. 2 App. 462-65. Lobato replied to the State's opposition. 3 App. 501-04. Following argument from counsel, the district court denied the motion. 4 App. 926-29.

Lobato filed a motion in limine to exclude testimony of Laura Johnson based on double hearsay. 1 App. 124-42. The State opposed the motion. 2 App. 466-69. Lobato replied to the opposition. 3 App. 505-08. Following argument from counsel, the district court ruled that the motion was premature and should be raised at trial. 4 App. 913-18.

Lobato filed a motion to admit the former testimony of deceased witness Diane Parker. 2 App. 239-94. The State did not oppose the motion but did indicate its intent to present the testimony during its case in chief. 2 App. 477-79. The district court ruled that the testimony would be admitted, either in the defense case or as a joint witness in which defense counsel conducted the direct examination. 4 App. 902-05.

Lobato filed a motion in limine to exclude evidence of presumptive blood tests. 2 App. 298-333. The State opposed the motion. 2 App. 379-438. Lobato replied to the State's opposition. 2 App. 485-90. Following argument from counsel, the district court denied the motion. 4 App. 932-35.

Lobato filed a motion to dismiss based on State's failure to preserve and collect exculpatory evidence. 2 App. 334-73. The State opposed the motion. 2 App. 470-76. Lobato replied to the State's opposition. 3 ROA 509-19. Following argument from counsel, the district court denied the motion. 4 App. 935-39.

The second trial began on September 11, 2006. Following selection of the jury, testimony began on September 14, 2006. 6 App. 986A. Jury instructions were provided to the jury on October 6, 2006. 4 App. 720-60. That same day, the jury returned a verdict of guilty of voluntary manslaughter with use of a deadly weapon and a verdict of guilty of sexual penetration of a dead human body. 4 App. 761-62.

Prior to the sentencing hearing, Lobato submitted to the court a sentencing memorandum which set forth her personal history and the support she has from family members and friends. 4 App. 763-99. She urged the court to impose concurrent time based upon the fact that she received concurrent sentences for his first judgment of conviction that was reversed on direct appeal. 4 App. 781-82.

The district court entered its judgment of conviction on February 14, 2007. 4 App. 800. The court sentenced her to serve two consecutive terms of 48 to 120 months for the conviction of voluntary manslaughter with use of a deadly weapon and a consecutive term of 60 to 180 months of sexual penetration of a dead human body. 4 App. 801. A timely notice of appeal was filed on March 12, 2007. 4 App. 803. This Opening Brief now follows.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Kirstin Blaise Lobato was charged via Information with first-degree murder with the use of a deadly weapon and sexual penetration of a dead human body in connection with the death of Duran Bailey. Bailey was found dead in a bank parking lot on the west side of Las Vegas on July 8, 2001 at around 10:00 p.m., next to a dumpster where he was known to sleep. 6 App. 1000, 1003. He had been severely beaten, he had been stabbed numerous time, and he suffered a fracture to his skull. 6 App. 1145-46. His pants were pulled down and his penis was severed. 6 App. 1017. His rectal area was slashed. 6 App. 1146. Stab wounds to the front of the neck (which cut the carotid artery), the left side, abdomen, rectum and penis were postmortem. 6 App. 1149. The coroner believed that many of the wounds were inflicted with a sharp instrument, such as a knife, but it was possible that they were caused by scissors. 6 App. 1146, 1155. The blunt force trauma on the head was more consistent with Bailey falling down and hitting his head on a curb than being hit by a bat as there was no depressed skull fracture. 6 App. 1160. The coroner estimated that the death occurred 8 to 24 hours prior to an examination of the body, which took place on July 9th at 3:50 a.m.

¹A defense expert opined that injuries were inflicted with scissors. 7 App. 1347-62. No weapon was ever recovered.

6 App. 1163. Bailey had a blood alcohol level of .11 and his blood also included a breakdown product of cocaine. 6 App. 1165. There was semen in his rectum. 7 App. 1177. Dr. Simms testified that this crime was not characteristic of a female crime and that none of the other murders with similar characteristics were committed by women. 7 App. 1168.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

A woman named Diane Parker arrived at the crime scene on foot from her home and asked whether the man was Bailey and whether he was dead. 7 App. 1328, 8 App. 1403. She had previously reported to police that Bailey repeatedly raped her a week prior to his death, on July 1, 2001. 7 App. 1328, 8 App. 1410, 1418. Even though Bailey's attack of her happened a week prior to his death, Parker still had injuries. 7 App. 1328. Parker lived in an apartment complex that was a short distance from where Bailey's body was found. 8 App. 1403. She testified that on the day Bailey raped her, some Hispanic men who lived in Parker's apartment complex saw Bailey slap Parker. 8 App. 1419. They told Bailey to leave and said some other things that Parker did not hear, and then Bailey left. 8 App. 1419. Bailey later returned, pushed himself into her apartment and then raped her. 8 App. 1419-20. She ran outside to get help but he grabbed her and threw her back into the apartment. 8 App. 1420. During the attack he kicked her, beat her, held a knife against her throat and tried to rape her anally but was unable to do so. 8 App. 1420, 1425. He tried to sodomize her three or four times and told her that he was going to kill her. 8 App. 1420. She did not immediately report the rape to the police, but did make a report on July 4th, after he banged on her door and window. 8 App. 1420. Police officers came to her apartment on July 5th and she gave a statement at that time. 8 App. 1420. They took her to UMC and they took photographs, including a photograph of her neck wound which was inflicted with his knife. 8 App. 1421. Photographs of injuries to her shoulder, leg arm, eyes and face were also shown to the jury. 8 App. 1421. He made a puncture would on the right side of her carotid artery. 8 App. 1422. Parker informed the police that Bailey usually stayed behind Nevada State Bank near Flamingo and Arville. 8 App. 1422. She offered to take the police to that area and they said "later." 8 App. 1422. The police did not ever take her to the place where he stayed. 8 App. 1422.

Parker had known Bailey for four or five months and previously had a consensual sexual relationship with him. 8 App. 1424. Bailey used crack cocaine, marijuana and alcohol, but she did not ever know him to use methamphetamine. 8 App. 1423. The two Hispanic men watched out for Parker after Bailey's attack, but she did not know their names and did not know if they ever did anything to Bailey. 8 App. 1423-24. Although she did not tell the men that Bailey had raped her, they knew what happened. 8 App. 1424. Parker told the police that reporting Bailey to them was going to get her killed and that if they did not catch him that she would be dead. 8 App. 1428. The police officer told her "you gotta do what you gotta do to protect yourself." 8 App. 1428. She also told them that she was scared to walk outside of her home, but she acknowledge that she walked to the scene where Bailey was killed. 8 App. 1428. When she reported Bailey for rape, she asked the police officers for protection but they did not give her any. 8 App. 1430.²

Lobato, a resident of Panaca, was an 18 year old girl who had just graduated high school and worked for a couple of months with a friend in Las Vegas. 6 App. 1042; 9 App. 1622. She sometimes stayed at the Budget Suites on Nellis and Flamingo, near Boulder Highway and sometimes stayed with friends. 6 App. 1084; Exhibit 125A at 3.³ She was

²Dective Thowsen testified that he met with Parker and her roommate and based upon their demeanors concluded that they were not suspects in Bailey's death. 7 App. 1328. He admitted that he did not take a crime scene analyst to her apartment, as he had done when he arrested Lobato, and he did not inspect Parker's shoes or apartment with Luminal. 8 App. 1403. The manager of Parker's apartment complex told Thowsen about some Hispanic individuals who lived in the complex who might have known about Bailey being rough with Parker. 8 App. 1404. Thowsen ran their names, learned that they did not have criminal histories, and decided not to talk with them or inspect their footwear. 8 App. 1404, 1410. He did not keep a record on the names of the men. 8 App. 1404.

³Filed contemporaneously with this brief is a motion for transmission of Exhibit 125A, which is an audio tape of the interrogation. It appears that the transcript of the tape was not admitted at trial, but was presented to the jury by video display. 8 App. 1376. For the Court's convenience, a transcript of the audiotape is attached to the motion for transmission of Exhibit 125A and the page numbers above refer to that transcript.

1
 2
 3

using methamphetamine while in Las Vegas when she was sexually attacked. 6 App. 1086; 9 App. 1707; Exhibit 125A at 3-5. While in Las Vegas she sometimes worked with a friend on the west side of Las Vegas. 6 App. 1084.

She returned to Panaca and sought help with her drug problem confiding to her friends in Panaca that she had used a knife to defend herself from her attacker. She sought help from her Panaca high school counselor, Dixie Teinken, but she did not report the attack to the police because in the past she had reported being raped but the police did nothing until her attacker victimized another girl. Lobato told Teinken that the man who attacked her was similar in size to Teinken's grandson, who was 6 foot tall and over 200 pounds. App. 1043. Lobato stated that she stabbed the man in the abdomen and penis, but did not state that she had punched him, used a baseball bat, knocked his teeth out, or cut off his penis after he was dead. App. 1044. She did not ever state that the man who attacked her was homeless. App. 1049. Lobato and Tienken reviewed newspapers back to June 1 to see if there were any articles about the matter. App. 1047. Tienken later contacted her friend Lara Johnson, a Panaca Probation Officer, who called the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department ("LVMPD") inquiring whether they had any cases where a man suffered an injury to his penis. App. 1038, 1129, 1137, 1138; 7 App. 1331. At no time did Johnson personally speak with Lobato, so she had only second hand information. App. 1142.

Lobato also confided in Michele Austria about an incident that happened in Las Vegas. 6 App. 1098. Lobato did not tell Austria a specific date as to when she was attacked and slashed a man's penis, but Austria believed that it happened within the first couple of weeks before Lobato returned to Panaca. 6 App. 1100. Austria understood the attack to have happened sometime in June 2001. 6 App. 1104. Lobato stated only that she slashed the man's penis and did not say that she repeatedly stabbed him in other locations, beat him, gave him two black eyes, cut off his penis or beat him with a baseball bat. 6 App. 1104.

⁴At the time of the autopsy, Bailey was 5 foot 10 inches tall and weighed 133 pounds. 7 App. 1177.

28

On July 20, 2001, LVMPD detectives and a crime scene analyst drove to Panaca and interrogated Lobato. 7 App. 1330-31. They advised her they were aware she had been a victim of a sexual assault as a 6 year old child. 7 App. 1333, 8 App. 1393-94. Lobato began to sob and cry. 7 App. 1333. She continued crying while she described her attack in Las Vegas which occurred at the Budget Suites water fountain on the east side of Las Vegas and her attempt to defend herself with her knife. 8 App. 1393; 8 App. 1407; Exhibit 125A at 2.

Many of the details included within Lobato's statement to the police were inconsistent with the evidence concerning Bailey's death. The coroner testified that the victim continued to be attacked even after he was dead and that several injuries were post-mortem. 6 App. 1148, 1153; 8 App. 1396. However, Lobato consistently said she left her assailant alive and crying. Exhibit 125A at 7; 8 App. 1396. Lobato told officers that she did not move her assailant and that she did not cover him up with anything. Exhibit 125A at 7-8. The testimony at trial was clear that Bailey had been moved and had been covered up with trash and a cardboard box. 6 App. 1015; 7 App. 1326. Lobato stated that she used a butterfly knife when she stabbed a man. Exhibit 125A at 5, 11; 8 App. 1387, 1396. A butterfly knife is sharp on both edges. 8 App. 1387. Bailey's wounds were made with a single edged knife or weapon. 6 App. 1148, 9 App. 1689. She told the police that she cut the man's penis and tried to cut it off, but did not know if she actually did. Exhibit 125 A at 6. Bailey's penis, however, was clearly severed and was found away from his body. 7 App. 1226. Lobato told the police that she did not remember hitting the man who attacked her with anything, Exhibit 125A at 6, while it was clear that Bailey was severely beaten. 6 App. 1145-46, 1148. In her statement to the police Lobato stated that the person who attacked her smelled of alcohol and dirty diapers, while Detective Thowsen concluded that this meant that he smelled like old socks that had not been changed. Exhibit 125A at 4; 8 App. 1388. There was no testimony suggesting that Bailey smelled of either alcohol or dirty diapers. Lobato described the man who attacked her as being really big and a giant, while Bailey weighed only 136 pounds. Exhibit 125A at 5; 8 App. 1395. Lobato stated that she was attacked in a parking lot and that there was a dumpster not far from where it happened. Exhibit 125A at 7, 16; 8 App. 1395.

2

3

4

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