2		
3		
4		
5	KIRSTIN BLAISE LOBATO,	
6	Appellant,	
7	v.	Case No. 49087
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	FILED
9	Respondent.	}
10		JAN 3 0 2008
11	RESPONDEN'	THACIE K. LINDEMAN CLEBY OF SUPREME COURT T'S ANSWERING BRIEF BY
12		DEPUTY CLERK
13	Eighth Judicia	om Judgment of Conviction al District Court, Clark County
14	DAVID M. SCHIECK	DAVID ROGER
15	Special Public Defender Nevada Bar #000824 JoNELL THOMAS Deputy Special Public Defender Nevada Bar #004771	Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #002781
16	JoNELL THOMAS Deputy Special Public Defender	Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue
17	Nevada Bar #004771 Office of Special Public Defender	Post Office Box 552212

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

Because the district court's decision to exclude this evidence was not an abuse of discretion or a manifest error, exclusion of the evidence was not improper. Therefore, this Court should affirm Appellant's conviction.

V.

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED EVIDENCE OF APPELLANT'S PERSONALIZED LICENSE PLATE.

"It is within the district court's sound discretion to admit or exclude evidence, and this Court reviews that decision for an abuse of discretion or manifest error." Thomas v. State, 148 P.3d 727, 734 (2006) (citing Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1007-1008, 103 P.3d 25, 29 (2004).

Here, Appellant claims that admission of evidence of her personalized license plate ("4NIK8ER" – fornicator), was in error, as it was irrelevant and highly prejudicial. Appellant claims that because there were no witnesses who testified to seeing Appellant's car at the scene of the crime, that evidence of the distinctive license plate was not relevant. However, the State offered evidence of the license plate, not because a witness testified to seeing a car with a 4NIK8ER license plate at the scene, but rather to corroborate Appellant's statements to law enforcement and other witnesses that she hid her car because she was afraid that someone may have

seen her unique car with its distinctive license plates at the crime scene. AA, Vol. 5, p. 919.

Appellant also argues that admission of the license plate evidence was unnecessary because defense counsel offered to stipulate that Appellant's car had a distinctive license plate. However, as the prosecutor argued during the pre-trial hearing regarding this issue, a stipulation that the license plate was distinctive would not have been sufficient. AA, Vol. 5, p. 923. All personalized license plates are 'distinctive'; describing the license plate as merely distinctive would not have painted a complete picture for the jury as to why Appellant was so concerned about her car and her license plate being spotted and remembered by a potential witness.

Based on the prosecutor's argument, the district court ruled that evidence of the license plate was admissible:

"Because the car was not a Toyota Camry that there's a billion of them on the road, and the plate was not just a standard plate, the two things together make this a uniquely identifiable vehicle, and what transpired with the vehicle in the time frame in question and how the vehicle was handled is a circumstance that I believe the jury should be able to consider amongst all of the other circumstances in the case. The Court, therefore, finds that the relevance exceeds the potential prejudice and denies the motion pursuant to NRS 48.025 and NRS 48.035."

AA, Vol. 5, p. 920. Defense counsel, upon the district court's ruling, was free to request that the district court provide a limiting instruction to the jury, instructing the jury not to consider the evidence for any of the reasons that Appellant claims were prejudicial. Defense counsel chose not to do so. It is not proper for Appellant now, on appeal, to complain about something that defense counsel made no attempt to avert at trial.

Appellant has not shown that the district court abused its discretion or made a manifest error in admitting the evidence at issue, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

VI.

ADMISSION OF PRESUMPTIVE BLOOD TESTS WAS PROPER.

"It is within the district court's sound discretion to admit or exclude evidence, and this Court reviews that decision for an abuse of discretion or manifest error." Thomas v. State, 148 P.3d 727, 734 (2006) (citing Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1007-1008, 103 P.3d 25, 29 (2004).

Appellant claims that the district court erred in admitting evidence of the positive luminol and phenolphthalin. This issue was considered previously by this Court and was found to be without merit. Lobato v. State, 120 Nev. 512, 522, 96 P.3d 765, 772 (2004). The district court nevertheless entertained argument regarding this issue in a pretrial hearing. AA, V. 5, pp. 932-935. The district court held the probative value of this evidence outweighed potential prejudice and that the concerns that defense counsel raised could be addressed through cross examination, presentation of rebuttal testimony, and comment during closing argument. AA, V. 5, p. 935.

Appellant addresses the testimony of three witnesses who testified concerning the presumptive testing done on Appellant's car, Thomas Wahl, Louise Renhard, and Daniel Ford. Appellant claims that during the testimony of the three witnesses the prosecutor emphasized the positive presumptive tests, seemingly implying that the prosecutor attempted to mislead the jury. Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 29-30. However, the record shows that the prosecutor was quite balanced in the presentation of this evidence. During Thomas Wahl's testimony, prosecutor's elicited the following testimony:

"Q. [Mr. Kephart] Okay. And so with regards to this particular car, with the items that we'd shown you that you -- that you've actually examined, is it your testimony today that you just -- you can't say it's blood but you can't say it's not blood?

A. That'd be -- that would be an accurate statement. I can't confirm that what gave a positive chemiluminescent reaction with luminal

and a weak positive with phenolphthalein is blood to any absolute certainty. It's one of the possibilities."

AA, Vol. 6, p. 1069. During cross examination of Mr. Wahl, defense counsel elicited testimony indicating that there were no positive confirmatory tests (AA, Vol. 6, p. 1075) as well as testimony regarding what substances could produce a false positive on a presumptive test (AA, Vol. 6, p. 1076). During Louise Renhard's testimony, the prosecutor elicited testimony that informed that jurors that a positive result on a confirmatory test only indicates only that there is a possibility that the detected substance may be blood. AA, Vol. 7, p. 1239. On cross examination of Ms. Renhard, defense counsel elicited testimony indicating that there are substances that could produce a false positive on a presumptive test. AA, Vol. 7, p. 1246. During Daniel Ford's testimony, the prosecutor elicited no testimony at all regarding presumptive tests conducted on Appellant's car. This information was elicited by defense counsel on cross examination. (AA, Vol. 7, p. 1278. However, the prosecutor, on redirect examination, elicited testimony regarding false positives caused by cleaning agents, and whether or not the positive results from Appellant's car were similar to the false positive caused by cleaning agents. AA, Vol. 7, p. 1284. On recross examination of Mr. Ford, defense counsel elicited testimony regarding what types of substance could produce a false positive on a presumptive test. AA, Vol. 7, p. 1285.

The prosecutor was very clear in presenting testimony to the jury that the positive results were from presumptive tests and that a positive result on a presumptive test meant only that there was a possibility that was blood was present. Defense counsel was able to cross examine each witness and elicit information to address the concerns that they raised in the pretrial hearing regarding the reliability of presumptive tests. Therefore, Appellant's claim that presentation of evidence of presumptive tests to the jury was misleading and confusing is utterly without merit. Therefore, the district court's decision to admit this evidence was not an abuse of

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

discretion, nor was it manifest error. As such, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

However, even if this Court finds that the district court erred in admitting evidence of the positive presumptive blood tests, it is the State's position that it was harmless error. Pursuant to NRS 178.598, "[a]ny error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." Nev. Rev. Stat. §178.598 (Westlaw current through 2005 73rd Reg. Sess.). NRS 177.255 provides that, "(a)fter hearing the appeal, the court shall give judgment without regard to technical error or defect which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties." Nev. Rev. Stat. §177.255 (Westlaw current through 2005 73rd Reg. Sess.). A conviction may stand, even where a constitutional error was committed, if the error is determined to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Obermeyer v. State, 97 Nev. 158, 162, 625 P.2d 95, 97, (1981). Although NRS 178.598 does not provide a standard for determining when errors are harmless, this Court has established certain guidelines to be followed in making this determination. These include: whether the issue of innocence or guilt is close, the quantity and character of the error, and the gravity of the crime charged. DeChant v. State, 116 Nev. 918, 927, 10 P.3d 108, 113 (2000).

In consideration of whether the issue of innocence or guilt is close, this Court has previously held that if the verdict would have been the same in the absence of the error, then the error is harmless. Sherman v. State, 114 Nev. 998, 912, 965 P.2d 903, 1010 (1998). Here, given that Appellant confessed to law enforcement and made several incriminating statements to other individuals, there is little doubt that the verdict would have been the same in the absence of the alleged error.

VII.

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS WAS PROPER.

27

28

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

The grant or denial of a motion to dismiss is reviewed on appeal for abuse of discretion. State v. Hancock, 114 Nev. 161, 955 P.2d 183 (1998).

In <u>Daniels v. State</u>, this Court adopted the two-part test to determine whether the State has failed to gather exculpatory evidence as set forth by the New Mexico Supreme Court in <u>Ware v. State</u>, 118 N.M. 319, 881 P.2d 679 (1994) 114 Nev. 261, 267, 956 P.2d 111, 115 (1998). First, the defendant must show that the evidence was material, "meaning that there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been available to the defense, the result of the proceedings would have been different." <u>Id.</u> Then, if the defendant establishes that the evidence was material, "the court must determine whether the failure to gather evidence was the result of mere negligence, gross negligence, or a bad faith attempt to prejudice the defendant's case." <u>Id.</u>

Here, Appellant claims that the district court erred in denying her motion to dismiss based on the State's failure to preserve and collect exculpatory evidence. The district court held a pretrial hearing to address this issue and upon reviewing both parties' motions and hearing argument, the district court denied Appellant's motion pursuant to Daniels, as defense counsel had not satisfied the two-part test therein. AA, Vol. 5, p. 939. On appeal, Appellant claims that the failure by the State, specifically the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (LVMPD), to catalogue, fingerprint, and store every piece of trash found at the crime scene (an industrial trash dumpster and enclosure) was gross negligence and/or a bad faith attempt to prejudice Appellant's case. This unreasonable, unrealistic claim is belied by the record. Several witnesses testified that the Crime Scene Analyst meticulously sorted through the trash at the scene attempting to preserve any potential evidence.

Testimony of Officer James Testa:

"Q. How long do you -- if you recall, how long did it take the crime scene analysts to actually get the trash out and uncover the body?

A. Through most of the shift, that I can remember, ma'am.

Q. So hours?

A. Yes."

(AA, Vol. 6, p. 1024)

Testimony of Louise Renhard, Senior Crime Scene Analyst:

Q. How was it that you went about trying to uncover the body?

A. What we did was we did it basically layer by layer, lifting off the top layers. We were -- it was explained to us by the detectives who interviewed the gentleman who found the body that he had been at the dumpster and he had taken some stuff out and thrown it down on the pile. So we lifted some items, we examined each item. If we found anything that indicated blood, we set it aside to be processed later. So basically we just sifted through item by item. When we got closer to the body we started setting aside more and more items that might be of evidentiary value."

(AA, Vol. 7, p. 1223)

Testimony of Daniel Ford, Senior Crime Scene Analyst:

"Q. And do you recall how you went about processing or going through the trash over the body to get to the body?

A. We pulled the dumpster container out and the slowly started removing trash that was located on top of the body, towards the outside of the enclosure looking again for items we felt was pertinent to the scene, until we got down to the body. Louise Renhard would take photographs along the way, documenting whatever we found or whatever was noticed in that pile."

Q. Now, you said that as you brought trash out you'd process it and some you kept and impounded, and others you didn't?

A. We would pull stuff out and look to see whether or not there was blood on the items, blood on the bags or whatever, to see whether blood spatter had gone from the victim onto the other items that appeared --most of the stuff that we brought out had been placed on top of the victim. There was no blood on the items. It was clean. To us, that had been removed from the dumpster and tossed on top of the victim, and there was no reason to take that for evidence. It was an agreement made and a decision made between the homicide detectives and the crime scene analysts that we there on the scene that night. Other items that we weren't certain about were bagged and then taken back to the lab and processed for possible prints. If prints were located, they were impounded on that list. If not, they were -- their location was noted for later on. But if there were no prints on it, it was discarded."

(AA, Vol. 7, pp. 1263-1264).

Appellant's claims in the instant appeal have no merit. Metro collected anything they thought had evidentiary value. Appellant cannot demonstrate that out of the mounds of garabarge, anything not collected would have generated evidence

with a reasonable probability of a different result at trial. Moreover, to grant a motion to dismiss, the district court had to find that the failure to gather the alleged exculpatory evidence was done in bad faith. The facts do not support such a finding.

Finally, Appellant was able to present testimony that fingerprints, bootprints or other gathered evidence did not match Appellant. The failure to gather all of the trash did not impair Appellant's ability to present this theory of the defense. The district court's denial of Appellant's motion to dismiss was a proper exercise of that court's discretion. Therefore, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

VIII.

RECONSIDERATION OF ISSUES RAISED IN APPELLANT'S FIRST APPEAL IS BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF THE LAW OF THE CASE.

"The law of a first appeal is the law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." Walker v. State, 85 Nev. 337, 343, 455 P.2d 34, 38 (1969) (vacated in part by Walker v. State, 408 U.S. 935, 92 S.Ct. 2855(1972). The doctrine of the law of the case is not absolute and this Court has the discretion to revisit prior legal conclusions if such action is warranted. Bejarano v. State, ___ Nev. ___, 146 P.3d 265, 271 (2006). However, the doctrine of the law of the case "cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument." Pertgen v. State, 110 Nev. 554, 557-558, 875 P.2d 361, 363 (1994) (abrogated on other grounds by Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 34 P.3d 519 (2001).

Here, Appellant urges this Court to review reconsider its holdings the Appellant's first appeal. Specifically, Appellant asks that this Court reconsider its holdings as to whether Appellant's statements to law enforcement were voluntary and whether NRS 201.450 is unconstitutionally vague and overbroad. However, the argument Appellant puts forth in support of these two claims is simply a more detailed and precisely focused rehashing of the argument set forth in the first appeal. Further, the facts in the instant appeal are the same facts set forth in the first appeal. Therefore, the doctrine of the law of the case applies and Appellant has not demonstrated that this Court should to exercise its discretion to review these holdings.

IX.

APPELLANT'S SENTENCE DOES NOT VIOLATE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE.

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